Ethics, NPM and post-NPM
A study of patterns and tensions in the central civil service

Tom Christensen · Per Lægreid





The Stein Rokkan Centre for Social Studies (the Rokkan Centre) runs a publication series consisting of two parts, Reports and Working Papers, in addition to a Reprint series. The Director of the Rokkan Centre together with the Research Directors form the editorial board of the publication series.

The editorial board is responsible for classification of publications as Reports or Working Papers.

The Report series includes scientific papers, such as final reports on research projects. Manuscripts are assessed by the editorial board or a senior researcher appointed by the board.

The Working Paper series includes working papers, lecture transcripts and seminar papers. The manuscripts published as Working Papers are approved by project managers.

The Reprint series includes papers that have previously appeared in academic journals or books.

ISSN 1503-0946

ROKKANSENTERET NYGÅRDSGATEN 5 N-5015 BERGEN TEL. +47 55 58 97 10 FAX +47 55 58 97 11

E-MAIL: POST@ROKKAN.UIB.NO WWW.ROKKANSENTERET.UIB.NO

Ethics, NPM and post-NPM

A study of patterns and tensions in the central civil service

TOM CHRISTENSEN
PER LÆGREID

STEIN ROKKAN CENTRE FOR SOCIAL STUDIES

UNIFOB AS

JUNE 2009

Working Paper 6 - 2009

Contents

Preface	3
Sammendrag	4
SUMMARY	5
Introduction	6
ETHICAL THEORY AND ADMINISTRATIVE ETHICS	7
ORGANIZATION THEORY PERSPECTIVES AND ETHICS IN PUBLIC ORGANIZATIONS	9
New Public Management and post-NPM reforms — the ethical dimension	12
ETHICAL GUIDELINES IN THE NORWEGIAN CENTRAL CIVIL SERVICE	14
The practical guidelines	14
Expectations about ethical guidelines.	15
Data sources	16
THE IMPORTANCE OF ETHICAL GUIDELINES AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER REFORM TOOLS	17
Variation in the use of Ethical Guidelines	20
Conclusion	22
References	24
Appendix	27
Ethical Guidelines for the Public Service. The Ministry of Modernization, 7 September 2005	27

Preface

This paper is written as part of the project «Norwegian Central Government Administration in a 30 Years Perspective», funded by the Meltzer Foundation. The paper was presented at Workshop 4 – Ethics and Effectiveness in Performance Measurement, «Governing good and governing well» -The first global dialogue on ethical and effective governance, Amsterdam, May 28–30, 2009.

Per Lægreid, project leader

Sammendrag

Etikk i offentlige organisasjoner har fått økt oppmerksomhet det siste tiåret, delvis som et resultat av ulike bølger av administrative reformer. I dette notatet diskuterer vi først hva som menes med etikk i offentlige organisasjoner med utgangspunkt i en bred tilnærming basert på etisk teori og organisasjonsteori. Deretter fokuserer vi mer spesifikt på etiske retningslinjer i den norske statsforvaltningen. Vi undersøker hvor viktige disse er for statsansatte innenfor dere eget arbeidsområde og hvordan de er knyttet til NPM-reformer og til reformer i etterkant av NPM. Deretter benyttes strukturelle, demografiske og kulturelle variabler for å analysere variasjoner i de ansattes oppfatninger av etiske retningslinjer. Datagrunnlaget er en større spørreundersøkelse til ansatte i norske departementer og direktorater i 2006. Hovedfunnene er, for det første, at bruken av etiske retningslinjer er nokså utbredt i den norske sentralforvaltningen. For det andre består de etiske retningslinjene av en blanding av ulike elementer særlig knyttet til reformer i etterkant av NPM. For det tredje er det signifikante forskjeller mellom de ansattes i deres oppfatninger av etiske retningslinjer, særlig knyttet til stukturelle trekk (stilling, oppgaver), og kulturelle trekk (effektivitets- og fornyelses-orientering).

Summary

Ethics in public organizations have received more attention in recent decades, partly as a result of waves of public reforms. In this paper we first define ethics in public organizations taking a broad approach based on ethical theory and organization theory. We then focus more specifically on ethical guidelines in the central civil service in Norway, ask how important they are for civil servants in their own field of work and how they are related to New Public Management and post-NPM reforms. Subsequently we use structural, demographic and cultural variables to analyze variations in civil servants' perception of ethical guidelines. The data used in the analysis are from a large survey of ministries and central agencies in Norway conducted in 2006. The main findings are, first, that the use of ethical guidelines is rather widespread within the Norwegian central civil service. Second, the ethical guidelines are a mixture of different elements, primarily belonging to a post-NPM family of reform tools. Third, there are significant variation among the civil servants regarding their assessment of the importance of ethical guidelines, mainly affected by structural features (position, tasks) and cultural features (efficiency and renewal orientation).

Introduction

Ethics in public organizations have become the subject of a renewed focus. The formulation of a civil service code of conduct, ethical guidelines and statements of values and ethical principles have become a common feature of administrative reforms in many countries (Pollitt 2003). Frontrunners have been countries like New Zealand, Australia, the United Kingdom and Canada but this aspect of reform is now spreading to many other countries (Kernaghan 2003). There are many reasons for this. One general reason may be that the complexity of public organizations has increased (Christensen and Lægreid 2008b) and thus produced a greater need for ethical guidelines or standards to impose constraints on civil servants, either by internal or external means, as both a substitute for and guarantee of public insight. Another, and related reason, is that internal complexity increases civil servants' own need for ethical standards. A third reason is that the public is generally more educated and more knowledgeable than in the past, which means that the demand for insight, participation and transparency is greater. This is coupled with increasing media awareness of what is going on in the civil service, probably also spurred by the trend to blame individual actors rather than institutions.

A fourth reason may be that ethics has increasingly become an issue in the public reforms that have taken place in recent decades. New Public Management's emphasis on transparency is one example of this, although paradoxically other features of NPM may also undermine the public ethos and erode ethical capital in government organizations (Gregory 1999, Hood 1991), thus increasing the need to focus on social cohesion, common identity, shared values, mutual trust relations and the public interest (Lewis 2006, Lægreid and Wise 2007, OECD 2005). The «value-based» management efforts associated with post-NPM reforms may also be classified as cultural aspects of reform – in the sense that they focus on values and ethics (Christensen and Lægreid 2007a). A further reason is that more money is at stake, whether related to the salaries and bonuses paid to administrative/state enterprise leaders or to awarding contracts in a market. In addition accountability is more individualized and ambiguous than before, potentially leading to more corruption and conflicts over accountability (Gregory 2001).

Ethical guidelines around the world cover a host of issues. While they cover more general values like integrity, fairness, accountability, loyalty, excellence, respect, honesty and probity in the organizational context, they also embrace democratic values such as rule of law, neutrality, openness, responsiveness and representativeness, and professional values such as effectiveness, efficiency, service, innovation and quality, and people-related values such as caring, tolerance, compassion and humanity (Kernaghan 2003).

Ethics in public organizations are determined by the thoughts and actions of individual civil servants or administrators. They, in turn, are constrained in their ethical enactment by a complex set of societal, structural, cultural and individual factors (Cooper 2006). Ethics in public organizations may accordingly have different meanings for the people who work in those organizations depending on different analytical perspectives. First, ethics may mean acting appropriately according to formal structures,

roles and rules, such as following Weberian norms of bureaucratic behavior, which may in some cases have implications for efficiency. Second, ethics are related to path-dependent historical-cultural informal norms and values in public organizations, i.e. to ethos, commitment, integrity, trust, etc (March and Olsen 1989, Selznick 1957). Third, ethics are also an issue when it comes to the manipulation of symbols, impression management and image building – for example, when actors try to sell certain structures, rules, norms and actions as ethically superior in order to increase leaders' legitimacy and enhance support and trust in the public organizations they work in (Brunsson 1989).

The paper will focus on three main research questions:

- 1. How may we define ethics in public organizations?
- 2. How important are ethical guidelines for civil servants in their own field of work and what is the relationship between ethical guidelines and NPM and post-NPM reform tools?
- 3. How can we explain differences in attitudes to ethical considerations in terms of different sets of structural, demographic and cultural variables as well as isomorphic processes?

The empirical basis for answering our last two questions is two large surveys conducted in Norwegian ministries and central agencies in 2006. The dependent variable is taken from a set of reform questions and focuses on whether ethical guidelines are important for civil servants in their daily work.

We will first give an overview of ethical theory, related to administrative ethics. Second, we will present three organizational perspectives to address the narrower issue of ethical guidelines in central government organizations. Third, we will discuss the ethical dimensions of New Public Management and post-NPM reforms. Fourth, we will introduce and analyze the ethical guidelines of the Norwegian central civil service. Fifth, we will use the different organization theory perspectives to formulate some expectations about the empirical results of the survey. Sixth, we will describe and analyze empirically how ethical guidelines are perceived by civil servants in ministries and central agencies. We will look at the importance attached to them and their relationship to other reform tools, and try to interpret the variations in the perceived importance of ethical guidelines among civil servants. Finally, we will draw some conclusions and point to some implications.

Ethical theory and administrative ethics

To talk more specifically about ethical guidelines in public organizations, we need to start from a broader basis in ethical theory, because how one see ethics depends on the ethical theories used. In a review article Lynch et al. (2007) stress that there are basically three types of ethical theories commonly used to analyze institutional and individual ethics in the public sector (see also Lohne 2004). The first one, labeled the *deontological*, is basically concerned with right and wrong, as exemplified by the Ten Commandments. Principles for acting are put forward in absolute terms of what is right and wrong and are often stated as a moral dichotomy. Kant is definitely in this category, with his

principle of duty – «do as you would be done by». Such principles may be formally defined or else more culturally dependent. One major argument against using such principles as ethical guidelines is that they are too rigid. Ethical behavior is seldom a question of either/or, and even though some of the principles are rather unambiguous, there is often a need for discretion. Another potential problem is that more than one principle may be involved, and there may be inconsistencies between principles, leading to trade-off situations.

A second category is *consequential* or *teleological* ethics. This is an ethical position that focuses on the consequences of decisions, and is connected to Bentham's utilitarianism, whereby an action is considered to be right if it increases happiness, pleasure or satisfaction as much as possible for as many as possible. A more modern version of this is cost-benefit analysis and efficiency. A core issue is how easy it is to judge the consequences of decisions rationally. An «economic man» perspective would say this is possible, while Simon (1957) propounds a theory of «administrative man» that stresses the limitations actors in organizations have on their attention and capacity, so they have to select a sample of decision-making premises to be able to make decisions, i.e. they are «satisficing». The consequences are of different types and so is the potential rationality limitation. The effects of «internal» decisions are easier to judge, particularly the more quantifiable ones, while the effects or outcomes of decisions in society are much more difficult to evaluate (Bouckaert and Halligan 2008, Pollitt 2003). This may lead to biases in consequential ethics, whereby near/short-term and easily measurable effects and implications receive more attention than more distant, complex and non-quantifiable effects.

A third type is what Lynch et al. (2007) name «virtue ethics». Here a public institution or its members should cultivate virtuous character traits (Devettere 2002). A good or moral person acts in a particular way for the sake of morality itself, using a kind of intuitive understanding when faced with making decisions that involve moral dilemmas, where reason and what is right and wrong are part of the equation. This ethical theory is typical of Aristotle. «If this ethical theory is to be followed professionals must cultivate a virtuous character within them and then exhibit that character in their everyday behavior» (Lynch et al. 2007: 904). Macaulay and Lawton (2006) stress the connection between virtue and competence, and underline that virtue is an integral part of management competencies, and that certain competencies embody certain virtues. This theory is connected with elements of Selznick's (1957) cultural theory, concerning the importance of path-dependency and the «embodiment of purpose» thinking, but also with March and Olsen's (1989) theory of acting according to appropriateness in integrative institutions (Christensen and Røvik 1999). This type of ethical theory is seen by critics as taking a too high moral ground, in that it assumes that humans are fundamentally virtuous and lacks clear-cut rules and principles for actors to make morally based decisions (Lynch et al. 2007: 911).

De Leon (2003) in her analysis of individual ethics and administrative responsibility points out that the there is a lot of scholarly path-dependency in the way ethical concerns have been treated. Friedrich (1940) focused on the sense of responsibility for the public welfare that civil servants should have, a viewpoint with roots in both deontological and virtue ethics. According to such a perspective trust is essential and is a

possible historical explanation for the lack of explicit ethical rules/standards for civil servants. Finer (1941), on the other hand, espouses the perspective that civil servants should be subject to external, formal control, a position that is closer to consequential ethics. This idea has been revived in the context of NPM reforms and linked to the concept of accountability (Gregory 1995). Gregory and Hicks (1999) connect responsibility with trustworthiness and accountability with controllability or answerability. So both these traditional positions are potentially relevant for ethics in public management in general and for ethical guidelines more specifically.

So how can we relate these general ethical theories to ethical guidelines? Bowman and West (2009) carried out an analysis of the ethical content of legislation regulating the political activities of civil servants in the US. They base their analysis on an adaptation of the three basic ethical theory positions, represented by what Svara (1997) labels the «ethics triangle», and discuss the pros and cons of using the different theoretical positions to guide the ethical behavior of civil servants. They emphasize that the ethics triangle enables the management of ethical ambiguity and helps to strike ethical compromises (see also Brady 2003). Another example of this is Dobel's (2005) analysis of international ethical guidelines like the UN's International Code of Public Officials and The European Code of Good Administrative Behaviour. He stresses that they have some common features and have an overall legitimating function, but that they vary according to culture and in where they put the emphasis. Such guidelines contain fundamental Weberian values that definitely have a deontological flavor. They portray the civil servant as a trustee and steward who takes care of fundamental values like the public interest, which also has elements of virtue ethics. They also represent a liberal, government-critical position, which leads to demands for things like transparency, obligation to provide information and various control mechanisms, obviously of a consequential ethical nature. This overlaps with traditional concerns for discretionary behavior, in a newer version of the principal-agent dilemma, which may result in control and efficiency measures (Knott and Hammond 2003).

Organization theory perspectives and ethics in public organizations

We will use three organization theory perspectives to further narrow down the basis for describing ethical guidelines in the civil service as well as to explain variations in their use. An *instrumental* or *structural* perspective will primarily see public decision-making in terms of formal structures, rules, roles and tasks (Christensen et al. 2007). The main moral imperative for civil servants will, therefore, be to follow these formal imperatives, in a Weberian-like fashion, thus probably achieving a high level of efficiency and effectiveness. This is because these values are designed or built into the formal constraints. This thinking is closer to «bounded rationality» (Simon 1957) than to economic rationalism (Self 2000), but shares with the latter the focus on consequential thinking. The basic reasoning here is that following the formal frames will ensure that decisions both comply with a high moral standard and are also good, rational decisions. Here the position of a civil servant in a certain organization at a certain hierarchical level

and as a performer of certain tasks is collectively and publicly defined and he or she will accordingly have a set of unambiguous laws and rules to follow. Here the classical Weberian features are important, such as having a sharp division between public and private property and treating people in a universal and not a particularist way. Impartiality is a core value and treating people fairly according to the rules is essential (Geerth et al. 2007). According to such a perspective, with its focus on formal constraints, it is natural to have different types of formal control mechanisms, either internal or external, either ex post or ex ante.

One ethical challenge in public organizations, according to such a perspective, is that even if formal structures have a major influence on decisions, they will always have some discretion built in as well (Egeberg 2003). This is partly because formal constraints always have to be of a general or universal character in order to be legitimate, but also because decision-making in public organizations is so complex that it is pretty much impossible to pre-define the rules for such decision-making in detail. Studies of decision-making in reform processes, for example, show that it is much easier to have formal rules about who should participate than about the kinds of problems and solutions that should be taken into account, because these are hard to predict (Christensen et al. 2007). Decision-makers may approach the discretionary leeway they are given by adhering to systematic and traditional cultural norms developed over a long period of time in a particular public organization or else they may base their decisions on premises linked to professional and demographic factors, with the latter resulting in more variation in decision-making.

Another challenge is that there is no guarantee that public organizations will be homogeneous. Rather, they are often multi-structural, heterogeneous and complex, with a variety of units, structures, rules, tasks, etc., making it more difficult to have unified or standardized ethical guidelines. There could potentially be inconsistency inside public organizations concerning such standards, or even competition between them. Different consequences of decision-making may receive different amounts of attention. In public organizations concerned with generating energy, for example, there is a constant tension (or moral dilemma) between attending to technical-economic questions on the one hand and environmental concerns on the other, not to mention the trade-off between current energy demands and the needs of coming generations. So what is ethical for one unit or group is not necessarily so for another one.

A second relevant perspective is a *cultural-institutional* one (Christensen and Lægreid 2001, Selznick 1957). This is a natural or organic perspective, where the basic premise is that public organizations develop gradually and incrementally, rather than by design, in response to internal and external pressure (Scott and Davis 2007). Instead of decision-makers having unambiguous formal constraints as a basis for their decisions, they follow informal norms and values that have developed through path-dependency over a long period of time (Krasner 1988). In organizations with institutional features of this kind, leaders will tend to make «critical decisions», like defining mission and domain, embodiment of purpose, training employees, resolving conflicts, etc., act in a «statesman-like» way, and develop a certain cultural «soul» or institutional «identity» (Selznick 1957).

What about ethics in such public institutions? Here ethics will be connected more closely with commitment, integrity and trust, than with formal constraints or consequence-related matters. They are what March and Olsen (1989) label *integrative institutions*, where acting is driven by cultural appropriateness. Appropriateness is about matching identities and situations with institutional rules (Christensen and Røvik 1999, March 1994). Acting appropriately involves understanding the «common heritage» of the institution, being aware of collective informal norms and values, of «being in the same boat», emphasizing deliberative norms, etc. Even though there are ethical norms and values common to all such institutions, like loyalty and professionalism, there will also be a lot of variety, because each institution has experienced a different combination of internal and external pressure over time, which will have influenced the development of its informal norms and values.

If we relate this perspective to the three ethical positions presented above, it obviously belongs to what Scott (2008) labels the *normative pillar*. The deontological theory, with its moral dichotomies, definitely has a normative-cultural flavor, but the norms are often not that clear-cut or absolutely defined in the cultural perspective. There are also several similarities with the virtue ethics of Aristotle. One is that the intuitive understanding of moral virtue is similar to the intuitive part of acting in an appropriate way that may have been learned by working in the civil service over a long period of time. Another is the understanding of moral norms, and a third is the embodiment of purpose, whereby leaders, according to the cultural perspective, should set a good moral example.

A third perspective that we can use on ethics in the civil service is a myth or symbolic perspective (Christensen and Lægreid 2007b, Christensen et al. 2007). According to such a perspective, the development of public organizations is characterized by the manipulation of symbols, impression management and image building. Because both the world at large and the systems of public organizations have become more complex, there is an increasing need to find simple guidelines for attitudes and action. The development of myths and symbols represents such a response. Public organizations will enhance their legitimacy if their leaders are able to balance talk and action, in what Brunsson (1989) labels «double-talk» or «hypocrisy». The reason for this is that they are more vulnerable if they only promise real action and not much happens. If, however, they talk in symbolic ways, getting other actors to believe them, they have more leeway. When there is a gap between talk and action, leaders can consciously pretend to act, while having no intention of doing so, because they lack the political will and/or resources. But they may also lack the knowledge to implement their talk. Manipulation of symbols may in principle also support instrumental action. One criticism of this theory is that balancing talk and action is only easy to do under certain conditions. A study of the Norwegian cabinet from 1997 to 2000 showed, for example, that what seemed to be a good balance between talk and action, related to a reform program, turned out to be too much talk, resulting in criticism and cynicism (Christensen and Lægreid 2002).

How about ethics in the civil service according to such a perspective? The main expectation would be that leaders will manipulate ethical guidelines, just like any other instrument, in order to create a certain impression among both internal and external

actors. Using a variety of symbols they will argue strongly that even just the existence of ethical guidelines makes their organization more modern, effective, efficient and morally superior. What they will not say explicitly is whether these guidelines will actually have any effects on decisions and activities in the organization, for example in an instrumental way. So guidelines can be used as a substitute for action, or at least to obscure the connection between talk and action. Ethical guidelines will function as «window-dressing» to impress the environment (Brunsson 1989). Here we are talking about «branding» of public organizations.

If we relate this perspective on ethics to the three ethical theories, we find a connection with at least the first two. The deontological theory, with its emphasis on right and wrong, very much accords with the emphasis on dichotomies used in the myth perspective. A leader who is good at manipulating symbols will be able to portray his or her own organization as morally superior and compare it with other «bad» organizations without such guidelines, or with the way his or her own organization was before the guidelines were introduced. Alternatively a lack of guidelines may result in countermyths supporting the introduction of such guidelines. The myth perspective may also, however, involve teleological or consequential ethics, because it is often argued that using ethical guidelines will have positive consequences such as improved quality of services, better decisions or implementation, or an increase in effectiveness or efficiency.

New Public Management and post-NPM reforms – the ethical dimension

Generally, modern public reforms are often about pretending to be modern and efficient, using different positive symbols, as indicated by the myth perspective. Ethical aspects seem to be a central part of that equation. The down-side is often that promises behind reforms cannot be kept, because the reforms are short on rational calculation or organizational thinking (see Dahl and Lindblom 1953). Many political leaders think they can use symbols, including ethical standards, as a substitute for a thorough analytical planning process, and some of them do in fact succeed in doing so. But quite often they promise too much, and the reforms are revealed to have been sloppily prepared, or else they produce unexpected effects. The response is then often to introduce yet more reforms implemented at an ever increasing pace. The purpose here is to give a brief overview of the New Public Management reform wave and the post-NPM measures and then ask how they handle the ethical dimension.

New Public Management, as it emerged in New Zealand and Australia in the mid-1980s, consisted of a variety of elements taken from a certain core of reform ideas. The core ideas combined two main components – management theories from the private sector and new institutional economic theory (Boston et al. 1996). The economic ideas, which combined rational choice, principal-agent and transaction cost theories, catered to the structural ideas of increased devolution and horizontal specialization, without having any clear structural theory to predict the effects of this (Christensen and Lægreid 2001). They were preoccupied with deregulation, delegation and decentralization, but also of introducing more market into the public sector, for example competitive tendering and privatization. The management ideas involved granting more discretion to administrative and state enterprise leaders, but also more use of contracts, which have centralizing elements. One major effect of this reform wave was that political leaders lost control and influence as a result of structural devolution and fragmentation, which made it more difficult to maintain central capacity and coordination (Christensen and Lægreid 2007a, Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004).

It is fair to say that New Public Management is not much concerned with ethics, and when it does focus on ethics then it tends to be in a rather general way and probably for economic and market motives. One aspect of ethics that does feature in NPM, however, is the issue of transparency. Transparency is a quite a modern concept and is concerned with obtaining information about what is going on inside a bureaucracy, so that the public is satisfied that decision-making processes are being conducted in an appropriate way, i.e. it has control potential. But NPM frames transparency in economic terms, asserting, for example that the general public and private actors can only trust the government or public sector if competition is conducted in a transparent and impartial way. Thus ethics in NPM is mainly about ethical standards regarding private market actors involved in the provision of public services (Brereton and Temple 1999). It therefore has obvious elements of consequential ethics. When it comes to trust, however, NPM is rather ambiguous and inconsistent, because it is informed by principle-agent theory, which is built on distrust (Knott and Hammond 2003).

Gregory (1999) has been one of the most systematic critics of the ethical dimension of NPM, particularly with its underlying norms and values. He has looked at various aspects of what is labeled «ethical probity» or personal corruption and analyzed critical cases in New Zealand. He asks how easy it is to maintain traditional standards of ethical probity under NPM and to develop a public ethos and an understanding of the public interest. He shows that this kind of ethical thinking is different in the private sector and therefore runs into trouble when imitated by the public sector and blended with the traditional ethical standards of the public administration (see also Maesschalk 2004).

The post-NPM reforms that emerged in Australia and New Zealand in the late 1990s focus much more on «putting the system back together again», meaning placing more emphasis on central control, capacity and coordination, both vertically and horizontally (Christensen and Lægreid 2007a, Gregory 2003). This was a reaction, as it may well be in many other countries, to the undermining of central control and capacity, to NPM's failure to achieve macro-economic gains or more efficiency in services, not to mention the increased insecurity produced by pandemics, tsunamis and terrorism. Post-NPM is also more pragmatic than NPM in the sense that it is does not rigidly adhere to a set of rather one-dimensional ideas, but in keeping with what Bardach (1996) labels «smart practice» it looks rather pragmatically for the most appropriate measures. One example might be pragmatic coordination among service-delivery agencies with overlapping clients. Overall, post-NPM seems to have been more preoccupied with cultural measures than NPM, which focused primarily on structural measures.

The kinds of ethical concerns associated with post-NPM vary. Its major cultural focus, – «value-based management» – definitely has deontological connotations. The major story is that institutions, administrative leaders and individual civil servants should attend to more general principles of integration, commitment and public ethos and

think more in collective, normative terms (see March and Olsen 1989). There is a need for public leaders who think in broad and pro-active terms. On the other hand, the management focus and the emphasis on coordination and smart practice as a way of achieving greater effectiveness and efficiency clearly contain elements of consequential ethics.

Ethical guidelines in the Norwegian central civil service

The practical guidelines

In 2005 the Ministry of Modernization issued «Ethical guidelines for the Public Service». In the foreword to the guidelines, the ministry stressed that high ethical standards in the civil service were a major precondition for public trust. The guidelines are said to have evolved from ethical values and universally valid norms such as justice, loyalty, honesty, reliability, truthfulness and reciprocity, and they complement the existing rules of law. The guidelines underline that whereas they apply to the entire civil service, there is also a need for special guidelines for certain institutions, like state-owned enterprises. The guidelines are said to be aimed at improving and developing the ethical awareness of civil servants. Actions at variance with the general guidelines are said to carry no special sanctions, but breaches of a more severe character may be punished in certain situations.

The guidelines seem to be a mixture of different elements (see Appendix). More traditional Weberian bureaucratic norms are typically found in concern for the citizenry, duty of obedience, impartiality and professional independence. More modern elements, reflecting changing conditions for public bureaucracies, are to be found in the duty to report, duty of efficiency, transparency, and most of all, confidence in public service. With regard to our three main ethical theories, most of the guidelines are rather typically deontological, with rather clearly defined norms of what is right and wrong. But the guidelines related to «loyalty» can be categorized more as consequential ethics. The only clear example of virtue ethics seems to be «regard for the State's reputation», whereby civil servants should embody in an ethical way the moral quality of the State.

If we look at the guidelines in terms of the three organization theory perspectives outlined, the most clearly instrumentally defined elements of the guidelines are the ones under «loyalty», where there is a combination of accepting hierarchical control and focusing on efficiency. There are also instrumental elements in «transparency», for example «active duty of disclosure», and in «confidence in the public service» related to staff turn-over and contact with the environment. But basically the guidelines have mostly to do with the cultural perspective and a variety of cultural norms and values. It is, however, also possible to read the guidelines in terms of a myth perspective. There is a lot of moral or normative «grand-standing» in the guidelines, related to concepts with a strong symbolic potential, like «the public interest», «equal treatment», «transparency», «confidence», etc. These are concepts that easily gain acceptance and potentially increase

legitimacy, although they are not necessarily easy to define and use in practice. So the guidelines may also be seen as about branding and impression management.

Expectations about ethical guidelines

We showed that NPM and post-NPM reforms had rather different ethical platforms, with NPM ethics being more of the consequential kind and post-NPM ethics more deontological. Our analysis of the ethical guidelines for the public sector in Norway allows us to posit two rather different sets of expectations concerning the reform waves and the use of ethical guidelines. One is based on the fact that the guidelines overall seem to have more deontological elements than consequential ones, leading us to expect that post-NPM reforms will reflect the ethical guidelines more closely than the NPM ones. An alternative expectation is based on the fact that the ethical norms in post-NPM generally have a different profile to the ethical guidelines in Norway, pointing more in the direction of integrity and commitment. This would lead us to expect that none of the reform measures, neither NPM nor post-NPM, would be strongly correlated with the use of the ethical guidelines.

Our expectations about variations in the importance attached to ethnical guidelines by civil servants are based on the three organization theory perspectives. The *instrumental perspective* focuses on structural features. One major variable here is *structural position* or where the civil servants are positioned in the hierarchy. Since administrative reform tools, including the use of ethical guidelines, are primarily their responsibility, we would expect administrative leaders to see ethical guidelines as more important than the executive officers do (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a). Concerning *administrative tasks*, we would expect people doing «meta-jobs», like employees in staff functions or performing coordination tasks, to care more about ethical guidelines than civil servants preparing laws/regulations or working on single cases. Along the same lines we could argue that civil servants working in *ministries* would give higher priority to ethical guidelines than those working in *central agencies* because they are more «meta-oriented», in other words, their work involves strategies, general policy-making issues and control and steering of subordinate bodies.

The cultural perspective will primarily address features of the administrative culture. Our main idea here is that civil servants working in a cultural environment that is more favorable towards and compatible with the reforms will be the ones who emphasize ethical guidelines the most. We use two variables to measure this. Employees working in a culture where the renewal orientation is strong are expected to regard ethical guidelines as more important than people working in another type of culture. And civil servants working in an efficiency-oriented culture will see ethical guidelines as less important than employees working in another cultural environment. The expectation for the latter variable could be modified if we take into account that there are consequence-oriented ethical elements in the guidelines, as shown.

A category of independent variables that could be extracted both from a structural perspective (consciously recruiting people with a certain socio-economic background) and a cultural perspective (representing certain cultural norms and values) is *demographic variables* (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a). These variables may represent early

socialization (age and gender), somewhat later socialization (education) and late socialization (related to work experience, career plans and professional development) (Lægreid and Olsen 1978). The main expectation is that modern administrative reform elements, like ethical guidelines, will be more important for civil servants who have a demographic profile that is different from the dominant one (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a). So we will expect women (White 1999), young civil servants, social scientists and people with short tenure to regard ethical guidelines as more important than men, older civil servants, jurists, economists and employees with a long tenure.

The *myth perspective* sees modern reforms as spreading organizational standards with a strong potential for symbolic effects to increase the legitimacy of the organization (Brunsson 1989, Lægreid et al. 2007). In this respect we may expect ethical guidelines to have functions similar to any other modern reform element. The theory here is that such standards are part of the process of isomorphism, whereby public organizations in a similar way import reform elements and use them as standardized legitimacy tools that function as «window-dressing» (DiMaggio and Powell 1983, Sahlin-Andersson 2001). So, in contrast to the other two perspectives and demographic factors, our main expectation is that there will be very little systematic variation in the importance civil servants attach to ethical guidelines, because they are affected by them in an equal and isomorphic way.

Data sources

Our method of studying ethical guidelines is based on three main elements (Christensen and Lægreid 1999). First, we focus on the response of individual civil servants. Ethical guidelines are more than what leaders say and more than formal decisions. Ethical guidelines often go through a complex process of evolution that ultimately depends on how individual actors at the local level think and respond to them (Brower and Abolafia 1997).

Second, we choose an extensive method to cover a lot of ground. In 2006 we conducted a large survey of all civil servants from executive officers to top civil servants in all Norwegian ministries and every third civil servant in all central agencies (1848 respondents in 18 ministries and 1516 respondents in 49 central agencies). The response rate was 67 percent in the ministries and 58 percent in the agencies.

Third, we take a broad empirical approach to the NPM reforms and post-NPM reforms, starting with the reaction to different reform elements and measurements. We then look at how they are clustered and focus on the variety in the use of different families of reform tools. We asked the executives the following question: «In connection with the governmental modernization and renewal programs a number of new reforms and measures have been launched. How much significance do the following reforms/measures/tools have in your own field of work?» We then listed 26 different reform elements that had been introduced in the civil service since the modernization and renewal programs began in 1987. For each of these reform measures, such as Ethical Guidelines, we asked the civil servants to state whether it was relevant and to rank its significance from 1 (very high) to 5 (very low).

In addition we also used questions to trace the administrative culture. We asked civil servants how much significance they attached to different matters when executing their daily tasks. In 2006 we listed ten different considerations (renewal, efficiency, professional values, political loyalty, loyalty to superior manager, transparency, signals for users and clients, signals from the civil service unions) and asked them to rank each of them on a scale from 1 (very important) to 5 (not important at all). In this paper we use two of those considerations – renewal and efficiency – as independent variables to examine the variation in the importance of Ethical Guidelines among the civil servants. How the other variables linked to structural and demographic features are operationalized can be seen in Table 3.

We will now first describe the significance of ethical guidelines in the Norwegian ministries and central agencies as perceived by the civil servants and look at how this reform tool is linked to the other administrative reform tools. Second, we will analyze how we might explain the variation in the repertoire of tools, according to structural, demographic, and cultural features, by first conducting a bivariate analysis and then a multivariate analysis to examine the relative importance of different explanatory factors.

The importance of ethical guidelines and their relationship to other reform tools

Our first empirical question is about the importance of ethical guidelines. Table 1 reveals that ethical guidelines are perceived as important or very important in their daily work by 35 percent of the civil servants. 22 percent regard them as very unimportant, have not used them or see them as not relevant. Given the fact that this survey was conducted only one year after the general ethical guidelines were formalized by the Ministry of Modernization, these numbers indicate a rather quick adoption of the guidelines by civil servants, but it also reflects the fact that the guidelines formalize long-term cultural norms and values. Compared to other reform tools ethical guidelines score rather high, especially by comparison with other newer tools such as value-based management, balanced scorecard, service charters, team-based management and benchmarking. Only performance management-based steering systems for subordinate agencies and operational planning score significantly higher (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a).

Table 1: The importance of Ethical Guidelines in own field of work as perceived by civil servants in ministries and central agencies. 2006. Percentage.

	Ministries	Central Agencies	Total
Very important	7	10	9
Rather important	24	28	26
Mixed	27	28	27
Rather unimportant	18	15	17
Very unimportant/not used	12	9	11
Not relevant	12	10	11
(N=100%)	(1620)	(1193)	(2813)

The table also indicates that ethical guidelines are perceived as somewhat more significant by civil servants in central agencies than by those in ministries. While 38 percent of civil servants in central agencies report that ethical guidelines are important in their ownfield of work, only 31 per cent of those working in the ministries are of the same opinion.

Our second empirical question is whether ethical considerations in the civil service are related to considerations typical for NPM or post-NPM? Are ethical considerations a set of factors working independently of the reform measures or are they strongly correlated, either positively or negatively, with them? To answer these questions we conducted a factor analysis of 26 different contemporary reform tools used in the Norwegian civil service.

Table 2: Different families of reform tools in ministries and central agencies. 2006. Factor analyses. Rotated component matrix. Principal component analyses. Varimax rotation with Kaiser Normalization. N=2813

	Components			
	Performance	Cultural	Structural	Market
	management	managerial	devolution	tools
	tools	tools		
Change in form of affiliation	.28	.00	.59	.20
Delegation of tasks to lower levels	.20	.03	.74	.09
Privatization	.05	.08	.69	.31
Public-private partnerships	.12	.16	.69	.21
User participation	.18	.37	.59	.18
Deregulation, rule simplification	.12	.36	.63	.00
Pay and personnel flexibility/autonomy	.15	.41	.37	.22
Steering systems for subordinate agencies	.57	.14	.40	.12
Development dialogue, management training	.47	.56	.17	.03
Budgeting flexibility/autonomy	.45	.25	.23	.39
Goal formulation and operationalization	.77	.28	.16	.18
Performance reporting, evaluation	.82	.22	.18	.20
Performance steering	.81	.28	.17	.18
Quality management systems	.66	.33	.17	.18
Internal markets, internal pricing	.08	.14	.21	.72
Contract systems	.17	.15	.20	.72
Yearly operational planning	.60	.43	.14	.15
Balanced scorecard	.44	.44	.15	.36
Value-based management	.26	.71	.14	.26
Ethical guidelines	.33	.67	.16	.08
Service charter	.19	.60	.21	.23
Team-based management	.21	.70	.10	.25
Knowledge-based management	.24	.76	.09	.13
Benchmarking	.25	.38	.09	.58
Purchaser/provider systems	.23	.21	.25	.63
More autonomous regulatory agencies	.26	.16	.40	.45
Initial Eigenvalue Total	10.508	2.047	1.3354	1.208
% of variance	40.4	7.9	5.2	4.6

This analysis reveals that the reform tools can be grouped into four clusters or families of tools (Table 2), which we label performance management tools, cultural managerial tools, structural devolution and market tools. Ethical guidelines belong to the second category, which consists of mostly culturally-oriented management development tools. Other reform tools in this family are development dialogue and management training, value-based management, service charter, team-based management and knowledge-based management. This category consists of soft managerial tools focusing more on norms, ethical issues, and leadership. This family of tools represents post-NPM measures that are more concerned with ethical issues and soft normative values related to leadership than to the more typical NPM measures of efficiency and performance-based management, structural devolution and market tools.

That said, the different families of tools are more complementary and supplementary tools than alternative tools (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a). When post-NPM tools are adopted by central government organizations they normally do not replace the NPM tools but are added to them or mixed with the already existing tools in a rather complex way. One indication of this is that ethical guidelines do not correlate negatively with any of the other 25 tools in our study.

Variation in the use of Ethical Guidelines

We now turn to the question of how to explain variations in the perceived importance of ethical guidelines. This section focuses on how the scores on the different independent variables, i.e. structural, demographic and cultural features, correlate with the importance of ethical guidelines. First, we present the bivariate correlations between each of the independent variables and the dependent variable, and then do a multivariate analysis of the relative importance of the various independent variables for the importance of ethical guidelines.

Bivariate analyses. All our structural features tend to affect the perceived importance of ethical guidelines (Table 3). People working in central agencies, in management positions and having staff or (to a lesser extent) coordination tasks see ethical guidelines as important in their own field of work. Cultural features also correlate positively with ethical guidelines. Civil servants with a strong modernization and efficiency orientation rate ethical guidelines as important. Except for education the demographic features are also significant regarding the perception of ethical guidelines. Men, older bureaucrats and civil servants with long tenure are more inclined to perceive ethical guidelines as important.

Table 3: Bivariate correlations between ethical guidelines and independent variables. Pearson R.

	Importance of Ethical Guidelines
Structural features:	
Administrative level (ministries/central agencies)	09**
Position (manager/executive officer)	.20**
Staff tasks	.13**
Coordination tasks	.04*
Cultural features:	
Renewal and modernization orientation	.20**
Efficiency orientation	.17**
Demographic features:	
Age	13**
Gender	.06**
Education (social scientist)	.01
Tenure in central government	06**

^{*:} significant at .05 level; **: significant at .01 (2 tailed)

Administrative level: 1. Ministry, 2 Central agency; Position: 1 Manager, 2 Executive officer; Staff tasks: 1 Yes, 2 No; Coordination tasks: 1 Yes, 2 No; Renewal and modernization orientation: Five point scale from 1 very important to 5 very unimportant; Efficiency orientation: Five point scale from 1 very important to 5 very unimportant; Age: 10 categories from 1 (under 25 years) to 10 (65 years and older); Gender: 1 Man, 2 Woman; Tenure in central government: 1 Five years or less, 2 Over five years.

Multivariate analyses. We now turn to the question of the relative explanatory power of the different independent variables. The multivariate analyses, summed up in Table 4, generally confirm the pattern revealed in the bivariate analyses. First, the independent variables can only explain a minor part of the total variation in the importance of ethical guidelines. Second, the most important explanatory variables overall are structural features followed by cultural features on about the same level, while demographic variables have rather weak explanatory power. The effects of gender and tenure are not significant when controlling for other factors, but there is a weak effect of age.

Efficiency orientation

Demographic features:

Tenure in central government

Gender

Adjusted R2

Sign. of F

<u>.11</u>**

-.05*

.02

.02 .10 .09

30.608

000

the importance of Ethical Guidelines. Standardized Beta coefficients. Linear regression.

Beta

Structural features:
Administrative level (ministries/central agencies)
Position (manager/executive officer)
Staff tasks
Coordination tasks
Cultural features:
Renewal and modernization orientation

Beta

-.10**
-.10**

Table 4: Summary of regression equations by structural, cultural and demographic features affecting the importance of Ethical Guidelines. Standardized Beta coefficients. Linear regression.

Education is not included in the multivariate analyses, because it was not significant in the bivariate analyses.

The single most important factor seems to be position, meaning that those in leadership positions tend to regard ethical guidelines as more important than civil servants in lower positions. Following position there is also a strong significant effect of administrative level – meaning that people working in central agencies are more inclined to value ethical guidelines than people working in ministries – and of a strong modernization and efficiency orientation. Working with staff tasks also has a rather strong significant effect on positive perceptions of ethical guidelines.

Summing up our findings relative to our expectations, we see a mixed picture, even though some of our main expectations are supported. The importance of ethical guidelines in Norwegian central government organizations is especially high in renewal-oriented administrative cultures, among bureaucrats in leadership positions, and among those involved in staff-related and coordination tasks. The expectations regarding the demographic factors are, however, not supported and the only variable with a significant effect goes against our expectation. Older civil servants see ethical guidelines as more important than younger. One explanation for this may be that they have experienced ethical erosion during the NPM period and welcome ethical guidelines as a way of reviving ethical concerns.

The effect of administrative level also goes against our expectations. Civil servants in central agencies perceive ethical guidelines as more important than those working in ministries. One reason for this may be that the central agencies are more hands-on bodies, concerned with the implementation of public policies and are thus confronted with ethical dilemmas more often in their daily work. Ministries are a rather mixed category related to tasks, combining meta-tasks and more policy-specific tasks, so this may be an added explanation for differences compared to the effects of other structural variables.

Our main results seem to reflect some tensions concerning the relationship between ethical guidelines and post-NPM and NPM measures. Ethical guidelines are certainly

^{*:} significant at .05 level; **: significant at .01 (2 tailed).

more closely associated with post-NPM than with NPM if we look at our factor analysis, since it belongs to the softer group of cultural management elements. Given the more pronounced ethical profile in the post-NPM wave of reforms, this is what we would expect overall. However, our analysis of the specific Norwegian ethical guidelines revealed that these softer elements are not so much reflected there, so in this respect it is somewhat unexpected. One explanation for this may be that the civil servants interpret ethical guidelines as a combination of new modern ways of organizing/working and as an increased emphasis on professional values and knowledge. Another explanation is that Norway has always been a reluctant reformer (Olsen 1996), and the period during which it seriously espoused NPM before moving on to post-NPM measures was shorter than in other countries and there was a strong path-dependency from the «old public administration». This has probably made it easier for civil servants to see ethical guidelines in this light, and is further enhanced by the preference of the new government, which came to office in 2005, for post-NPM over NPM.

However, the variation in the importance attached to ethical guidelines also yields another angle that in some respects paints a more modified picture. The effect of efficiency orientation also goes against our expectations. Among the civil servants efficiency orientation and positive attitudes towards ethical guidelines are obviously not negatively correlated. On the contrary, they seem to reinforce each other. Scoring high on efficiency orientation goes together with positive attitudes towards ethical guidelines, which may reflect the efficiency elements shown in our analysis of the specific guidelines. This is another indication of the general finding that the different reform tools seem to supplement or complement each other rather than working in different directions. The variation in the adoption of newer post-NPM tools such as ethical guidelines to some extent parallels the adoption of NPM tools like Management-byobjectives-and-results (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a). The main impression, then, is that there is no one-factor explanation for the variation in the importance of different families of administrative tools. Cultural features, such as efficiency and renewal orientation, make a significant difference, but structural features, such as having a leadership position and task structure, also have explanatory power.

Conclusion

Coming back to the more general ethical positions we started out with, we have shown that the ethical guidelines for civil servants are rather mixed. Deontological elements are rather obvious, as are consequential ethics, while virtue ethics play a minor role. This ethical complexity, or in some cases ethical ambiguity or inconsistency, may have different implications. One is that it gives civil servants the necessary flexibility to deal with complex and varied tasks and operating contexts. In this respect, more one-dimensional ethical guidelines would be problematic.

A different view would argue that ethical guidelines should be less ambiguous and should give civil servants firmer constraints or frames of normative reference to work from. One problem with this view is of course to get an agreement on such guidelines.

Our analysis of the perception of ethical guidelines shows quite clearly that ethical guidelines are viewed in different ways, and that there are few traces of isomorphic development. Structural and cultural variables explain this variation, and they very much reflect consequential and deontological positions respectively. So ethical theory is in practice dependent on context, and civil servants interpret it differently depending on what cultural baggage they are carrying. This in turn reflects differing career paths and current structural position (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a).

In this paper we first showed that the use of ethical guidelines is rather widespread within central government organizations in Norway. About 35 percent assess them as rather important, 27 percent see them as mixed, while 40 percent report that they are rather unimportant or not relevant in their own field of work. This can be seen as a relatively high score, especially compared to other reform tools. On the other hand they are not a dominant tool. The majority of civil servants do not assess them as very important or relevant. This indicates that the attitude of civil servants in Norwegian central government organizations to ethical guidelines in their own field of work is rather ambivalent. This is not surprising given that this is a rather recently introduced reform tool. One crucial question here is also how the use of formalized guidelines matches up with their experience with more traditional informal norms and values.

Second, we revealed that ethical guidelines primarily belong to a post-NPM family of reform elements, together with management training, value-based management, service declarations, team-based management and knowledge-based management. This does not, however, mean that ethical guidelines correlate negatively with more regular NPM tools. On the contrary, scoring high on ethical guidelines goes together with scoring high on some NPM tools. Thus ethical guidelines do not replace other reform tools but supplement them, resulting in an even more complex collection of reform tools, so in this respect they are not that distinct.

Third, we found that there are significant variations among civil servants regarding their assessment of the importance of ethical guidelines. These were mainly affected by structural and cultural features. Ethical guidelines are a reform tool that is regarded as most important among managers in central agencies working with staff or coordination tasks, who have a strong efficiency and renewal orientation and who are among the older cohorts. There is a complex interplay between the different factors. The explanatory power of the structural factors is similar to the impact on other dependent variables in what broadly may be labelled as administrative policy (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a), meaning that these independent variables combine responsibility and meta-related activities. Leaders have a special responsibility to attend to and implement certain reform tools and change elements, as have executive officers with certain tasks. A result that points in a different direction is that actors in agencies score higher on the importance of ethical guidelines than employees in ministries. And agencies have more specific tasks and more professions based in the natural sciences than ministries.

The pattern of reactions illustrates that the administrative apparatus is not uniform and homogeneous when it comes to adopting administrative reform tools such as ethical guidelines. There is no general or common administrative doctrine or management ideal that is applied to the whole of the central government administration. In contrast to the expectation from a myth perspective we could not identify any

isomorphism regarding the introduction of ethical guidelines in Norwegian central government organizations. Thus our main expectation from this perspective – namely, that there would be very little systematic variation in how civil servants assess the importance of ethical guidelines because they are affected by them in an equal way – gets little support.

Our main results in this paper illustrate that reform processes within the civil service are often characterized more by addition and modification than dismantling. When the different recipes for reform, such as ethical guidelines, are imported into the Norwegian context they have to pass a compatibility test: some are rejected, others are translated, and it is not only NPM measures that are on the agenda (Røvik 2002). In addition, the extent to which different parts of the civil service are receptive to reform elements depends on cultural, task-specific and structural features.

References

- Bardach, E. (1996). «Turf Barriers to Intra-Agency Collaboration». In D. F. Kettl and H. B. Milward (eds.), *The State of Public Management. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press*, pp. 168 –92.
- Boston, J., J. Martin, J. Pallot and P. Walsh (1996). *Public Management: The New Zealand Model*. Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Bouckaert, G. and J. Halligan (2008). *Managing Performance. International Comparisons*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Bowman, J. S. and J. P.West (2009). «To «Re-Hatch» Public Employees or Not? An Ethical Analysis of the Relaxation of Restrictions on Political Activities of Civil Service». *Public Administration Review*, 69 (Jan./Feb.): 52–63.
- Brady, F.N. (2003). «Public Administration and the Ethics of Particularity». *Public Administration Review*, vol.63 (5): 525–534.
- Brereton, M. and M. Temple (1999). «The New Public Service Ethos: An Ethical Environment of Governance». *Public Administration*, 77 (3): 455–474.
- Brower, R.S. and M.Y. Abolafia (1997). «Bureaucratic politics: The view from below», *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 7 (2): 305–332.
- Brunsson, N. (1989). The Organization of Hypocrisy. Talk, Decisions and Actions in Organizations. Chichester: Wiley.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1999) «New Public Management Design, Resistance or Transformation?» Public Productivity & Management Review, 23 (2): 169–193.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2001). A Transformative Perspective on Administrative Reforms. In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.), *New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and P.Lægreid (2002). Reform og lederskap (Reform and Leadership). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Christensen, T. and P.Lægreid (2007a). «The whole-of-government approach to public sector reform». *Public Administration Review*, 67 (Nov./Dec.): 1059–1066.
- Christensen, T., and P.Lægreid (2007b). Theoretical Approach and Research Questions. In T.Christensen and P.Lægreid (eds.), *Transcending New Public Management*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and P.Lægreid (2008a). «NPM and beyond structure, culture and demography» International Review of Administrative Sciences, 74(1): 7–23.

- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2008b). Transcending New Public Management A Transformative Approach to Increased Complexity and the Challenges of Balancing Autonomy and Control. Paper presented at Kindred Spirits Developing Ideas to Catch and Release, Celebrating Scancor's 20th Anniversary, Nov 21–23, 2008, Stanford University.
- Christensen, T., P. Lægreid, P. G. Roness and K. A. Røvik (2007). Organization Theory and The Public Sector. Instrument, Culture and Myth. London and NY: Routledge.
- Christensen, T. and K. A. Røvik (1999). The Ambiguity of Appropriateness. In M. Egeberg and P. Lægreid (eds.), Organizing Political Institutions. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Cooper, T.L. (2006). The Responsible Administrator: An Approach to Ethics for the Administrative Role. 5th edition. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Dahl, R. A. and C. E. Lindblom (1953). Politics, Economics, and Welfare. New York: Harper & Row.
- Dobel, P. J. (2005). Public Management as Ethics. In E. Ferlie, L. Lynn jr. and C. Pollitt (eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Public Management*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- deLeon, L. (2003). On Acting Responsibly in a Disorderly World: Individual Ethics and Administrative Responsibility. In B. G.Peters and J. Pierre (eds.), *Handbook of Public Administration*. London: Sage.
- Devettere, R.J. (2002). Introduction to Virtue Ethics: Insights of the Ancient Greeks. Washington D.C.: Georgetown University Press.
- DiMaggio, P. J. and W. W. Powell (1983). «The Iron Cage Revisited: Institutional Isomorphism and Collective Rationality in Organizational Fields». American Sociological Review, 48 (2): 147–160.
- Egeberg, M. (2003). How bureaucratic structure matters: An organizational perspective. In B.G. Peters and J. Pierre (eds.), *Handbook of Public Administration*. London: Sage.
- Finer, H. (1941). «Administrative responsibility in democratic government». *American Political Science Review*, 1: 335–350.
- Friedrich, C.J. (1940). "Public policy and the nature of administrative responsibility", Public Policy, 1:3–24.
- Geerth, H. H., C. W.Mills and C. Mills (2007). From Max Weber: Essays in Sociology. London: Routledge.
- Gregory, R. (1995). Accountability, Responsibility and Corruption: Managing the Public Production Process. In J. Boston (ed.), The State under Contract. Wellington: Bridget Williams Books.
- Gregory, R. (1999). «Social Capital Theory and Administrative Reform: Maintaining Ethical Probity in Public Service». *Public Administration Review*, 59 (1): 63–75.
- Gregory, R. (2001). Transforming Governmental Culture: A Sceptical View of New Public Management. In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.) New Public Management. The transformation of ideas and practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Gregory, R. (2003). «All the King's Horses and all the King's Men: Putting New Zealand's Public Sector Back Together Again.» *International Public Management Review*, 4 (2): 41–58.
- Gregory, R. and C.Hicks (1999). «Promoting Public Service Integrity: A Case of Responsible Accountability». *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 58 (3): 3–15.
- Hood, C. (1991).«A public management for all seasons?». Public Administration, 69 (1): 3–19.
- Kernaghan, K. (2003). «Integrating Values into Public Service: The Values Statement as Centerpiece.» *Public Administration Review*, 63 (6): 711–719.
- Knott, J. H. and T. H. Hammond (2003). Formal Theory and Public Administration. In B.G. Peters and J. Pierre (eds.), *Handbook of Public Administration*. London: Sage.
- Krasner, S. D. (1988). «Sovereignty. An Institutional Perspective». Comparative Political Studies, 21 (1): 66–94.
- Lewis, C.W. (2006). «In Pursuit of the Public Interest». Public Administration Review, 66 (5): 694-701.
- Lohne, E.J. (2004). Etikk i lokalpolitikken (Ethics in local politics). Kristiansand: Høyskoleforlaget.
- Lynch, T. D., C. E. Lynch and P. L.Cruise (2007). Global Ethics in the 21st Century: An Alternative Approach. In A. Farazmand and J. Pinkowski (eds.), *Handbook of Globalization, Governance, and Public Administration*. Boca Raton, FA: Taylor & Francis.

- Lægreid, P. and J.P. Olsen (1978). *Byråkrati og beslutninger* (Bureaucracy and decisions). Bergen: Universitetsforlaget.
- Lægreid, P., P. G. Roness and K. Rubecksen (2007). «Modern management tools in state agencies: The case of Norway». *International Public Management Journal*, 10 (4): 387–413.
- Lægreid, P. and L. Wise (2007). Reforming Human Resource Management in Civil Service Systems: Recruitment, Mobility and Representativeness. In J.C.N. Raadschelders, T.A.J. Toonen and F.M. Van der Meer (eds.), *The Civil Service in the 21st Century*. Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Macaulay, M. and A. Lawton (2006). «From Virtue to Competence: Changing the Principles of Public Service». *Public Administration Review*, 66 (5): 702–710.
- Maesschalck, J. (2004). «The Impact of New Public Management Reforms on Public Servants. Ethics: Towards a Theory». *Public Administration*, 82 (2): 465–489.
- March, J.G. (1994).). A Primer in Decision Making. New York: Free Press.
- March, J.G. and J.P. Olsen (1989). Rediscovering Institutions: The Organizational Basis of Politics. New York: The Free Press.
- OECD (2005). Modernizing Government. The Way Forward. Paris: OECD.
- Olsen, J. P. (1996). Norway: Slow Learner or Another Triumph of the Tortoise? In J. P. Olsen and B. G. Peters (eds.), Lessons from Experience. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Pollitt, C. (2003). The Essential Public Manager. Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Pollitt, C. and Bouckaert, G. (2004). Public Management Reform. 2nd ed. Oxford University Press.
- Røvik, K.A. (2002) The Secrets of the Winners: Management Ideas That Flow. In K. Sahlin-Andersson and L. Engwall (eds.), The Expansion of Management Knowledge. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.
- Sahlin-Andersson, K. (2001). National, International and Transnational Construction of New Public Management. In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.), New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Scott, W. R. and Davis, G. F. (2007). Oranizations and Organizing: Rational, natural and open system perspectives. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall.
- Scott (2008). Institutions and Organizations: Ideas and Interests. London: SAGE.
- Selznick, P. (1957). Leadership in administration. New York: Harper and Row.
- Sepf, P. (2000). Rolling Back the Market: Economic Dogma and Political Choice. New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Simon, H. (1957). Administrative behaviour 2nd ed. New York: The Free Press,
- Svara, J. H. (1997). The Ethical Triangle: Synthesizing the Bases of Administrative Ethics. In J. S. Bowman (ed.), *Public Integrity Annual*. Lexington, KY: Council of State Governments.
- White, R.D. jr. (1999). Are Women More Ethical? Recent Findings on the Effects of Gender Upon Moral Development. *Journal of Public Administration research and Theory*, 9(3): 459–471.

Appendix

Ethical Guidelines for the Public Service. The Ministry of Modernization, 7 September 2005.

The main points in the ethical guidelines are the following:

- 1.0. General provisions.
- 1.1. Concerns for citizenry.

As the exerciser of authority, provider of services and steward of significant social resources, the central government administration and thus the individual employee is obligated to take account of the public interest, to strive to achieve equal treatment and to treat individuals with respect.

1.2. Regard for the State's reputation.

The individual employee is required to perform his or her duties and behave in an ethical manner, and thus to avoid damaging the State's reputation.

- 2.0. Loyalty.
- 2.1. Duty of obedience.

Public officials are required to comply with the legal rules and ethical guidelines that apply to their activities, as well as to follow orders issued by superiors. The duty of obedience entails no obligation to do anything illegal or unethical.

2.2. Duty to report.

In order to implement measures to avoid or limit loss or damage, public officials are required to report to their employer any circumstances of which she or he is aware that could cause the employer, employee or their surroundings to suffer loss or damage.

2.3. Duty of efficiency.

Public officials are required to use and preserve the State's resources in the most economical and rational manner possible, and shall not abuse or waste the State's funds. Achieving the established target in a good and efficient manner requires striking a balance between efficiency and use of resources, thoroughness, quality and good administrative practice.

- 3.0. Transparency.
- 3.1. Freedom of information.

There should be openness and transparency throughout the administration so that the general public can understand the State's activities, and thus gain insight into how the State attends to its responsibilities.

3.2. Active duty of disclosure. The State has an active duty of disclosure. Public officials should always provide correct and adequate information, whether to authorities, companies, organizations or residents. In certain contexts, this will mean that one should, of one's own volition, disclose information of significance needed for processing a case. 3.3. Employees' freedom of expression.

Like everyone else, public officials enjoy a fundamental right to express critical opinions about the State's activities and other matters.

3.4. Whistle blowing.

Public officials must be able to report circumstances in the public service that are worthy of criticism. Before a report is filed, an attempt should be made to sort the matter out in-house.

- 4.0. Confidence in the public service.
- 4.1. Impartiality.

Public officials shall not behave in a manner that might impair faith in their impartiality.

4.2. Outside and second jobs.

A public official cannot have outside or second jobs, directorships or other paid assignments that are not compatible with the legitimate interest of the State as an employer, or that lend themselves to undermining trust in the public service. There must be transparency about the potential impact of public officials' outside and second jobs, etc. on the discharge of their duties.

4.3. Transition to other organizations.

When a public official leaves the public service, it is important to ensure that the citizenry's trust in the public service is not impaired, or that the State's interests in a negotiation or other interaction are not affected. The employer must therefore consider whether certain positions should be subject to a quarantine clause in the employer contract.

4.4. Contact with former colleagues.

All employees must be careful about how they treat confidential information. This includes in respect of former colleagues, especially if they represent an interested party in a matter where the State is the decision-making authority, or if they are employed by an organization engaged in interaction or negotiations with the State.

4.5. Accepting gifts and other perquisites. Public officials shall not, on their own behalf or on behalf of others, accept or facilitate the acceptance of gifts, travel, hotel accommodation, hospitality, discounts, loans or other contributions or perquisites that are appropriate to, or intended by the donor, to influence their work. Public officials must not use their position to gain an undue advantage for themselves or anyone else. This also applies in cases where these advantages would not affect their service-capacity actions.

4.6. Offers of gifts and other perquisites.

Public officials shall not, as part of discharging their duties, give or offer gifts or other perquisites that are appropriate to, or intended to, sway the recipient's service-capacity actions.

- Professional independence and objectivity.

5.1.Professional independence.The principle of professional independence means that public officials should use their professional knowledge and professional judgement to discharge their duties.

WORKING PAPERS ROKKANSENTERET (ISSN 1503-0946)

The publications can be ordered from Rokkansenteret, phone: +47 55 58 97 10,

e-mail: post@rokkan.uib.no, www.rokkansenteret.uib.no

2009Ole Andreas Danielsen: «Norsk sentralforvaltning under EØS-avtalen». January 2009.

1-2009

2-2009	Lise Hellebø Rykkja: « Øvelse gjør mester? Øvelser som virkemiddel for bedre
3-2009	krisehåndtering og samfunnssikkerhet». March 200 Synnøve Skarsbø Lindtner: «Hvem har makt over teksten? Marilyn Frenchs kvinner, lest i lys
5-2007	av Giddens` og Foucaults bidrag til aktør- og strukturdebatten». March 2009
4-2009	Hans-Tore Hansen: «Bidrar etableringen av lokale NAV-kontorer til bedre tilbakemeldinger fra brukerne?». Mai 2009
5-2009	Sindre Andre Haug: «Krisehåndtering i E.coli-saken». Mai 2009
6-2009	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Ethics, NPM and post-NPM - a study of patterns and
	tensions in the central civil service» June 2009
	2008
1-2008	<i>Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid</i> : «Living in the past? – tenure and attitudes in the central civil service». January 2008.
2-2008	Jan-Kåre Breivik og Bodil Ravneberg: «Rom for refleksjon. Kirkens Bymisjon og oppfølging av
	bostedsløse». April 2008.
3-2008	Hans-Erik Ringkjøb og Jacob Aars: «Får vi også vere med? Om kvinner i norsk lokalpolitikk».
4-2008	Mai 2008. Anne Lise Fimreite og Per Lægreid: «Byråkrati og partnerskap hånd i hånd? Om
1 2000	samordningsutfordringer i NAV». Mai 2008.
5-2008	Ole Johnny Olsen: «Institusjonelle endringsprosesser i norsk fag- og yrkesutdanning.
	Fornyelse eller gradvis omdannelse?» Mai 2008.
6-2008	Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: «Reorganizing the Welfare State Administration. May 2008.
7-2008	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Administrative Reforms and Competence in Central
	Government Organizations». June 2008.
8-2008	Svanaug Fjær: «Nordisk samfunnsvitenskaplig forskning om alkohol og narkotika.
	Utviklingstrekk og endringer i alliansen mellom kunnskapsproduksjon og politikk». Juni 2008.
9-2008	Jill Loga: «Kunsten å balansere mellom kreativitet og psykisk helsearbeid. Evaluering av
J 200 0	Galleri VOX/Vågsbunnen Fellesatelier». Juni 2008.
10-2008	Jostein Askim, Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite, Per Lægreid: «Challenges and effects of
	administrative reform – Reorganizing the Norwegian welfare administration». August 2008.
11-2008	Jostein Askim, Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite, Per Lægreid: «Implementation of Merger:
12 2000	Lessons from the Norwegian Welfare Bureaucracy». August 2008. <i>Lise Hellebø Rykkja</i> : «Flernivåperspektiv og krisehåndtering». Oktober 2008.
12-2008 13-2008	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Scope, effects and driving forces». November 2008.
14-2008	Anne Lise Fimreite: «Mission impossible made possible? –Tenkning og argumentasjon bak
	partnerskapet mellom stat og kommune i NAV». Desember 2008.
15-2008	<i>Knut Grove:</i> «One Landscape – Differing Eyes. The Interface of the Past for the Future in the
	Norwegian Fjord Landscape». December 2008.
16-2008	Knut Grove: «Det kulturelle Hardanger. Hardingen, regionen og fellesskapa. Desember 2008.
17-2008	Jan-Erik Askildsen, Oddvar Kaarbøe and Tor Helge Holmås: «Monitoring prioritization in a
	public health care sector». December 2008.

18-2008 *Tor Helge Holmås, Svenn-Åge Dahl and Frode Skjeret:* «Attitudes towards sickness absence in the Nordic countries». December 2008.

2007

- **1-2007** *Kari Ludvigsen og Svanaug Fjær:* «Varig bolig framfor hospits». Februar 2007.
- **2-2007** *Kari Ludvigsen og Reidun Faye*: «Botilbud for ressurskrevende brukere innen lokal helsetjeneste i omstilling. Evaluering av prøveprosjektet Bufellesskapet Vik i Jondal kommune». May 2007.
- **3-2007** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «NPM and Beyond Leadership, Culture, and Demography». June 2007.
- **4-2007** *Tord Skogedal Lindén*: «Unearthing a European Union Family Policy. The Impact of Social Protection Policies». August 2007.
- **5 -2007** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «The Challenge of Coordination in Central Government Organizations». October 2007.
- 6-2007 Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «The Regulatory Orthodoxy in practice» November 2007
- **7-2007** Hilde Randi Høydal« Samordning av samfunnssikkerhet i norsk sentralforvaltning» November 2007
- **8-2007** *Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid:* « Crisis management The Case of Internal Security in Norway.» December 2007
- 9-2007 *Torkel Grahm Haga:* «Myten om et integrert tilsyn; en studie av Mattilsynets etablering og drift». Desember 2007.

- 1-2006 Martin Byrkjeland: «Høgare utdanningstilbod på Vestlandet og i Agder-fylka.» May 2006.
- **2-2006** *Svanaug Fjær*: «Dagsverket lavterskel arbeidstilbud for rusavhengige. Evalueringsrapport». June 2006.
- 3-2006 *Birgit Skjelbred-Knudsen Valde*: «Norsk anti-korrupsjonspolitikk svar på behov eller utløst av en internasjonal trend». June 2006.
- **4-2006** *Håkon Høst*: «Kunnskapsstatus vedrørende rekruttering og utdanning til pleie- og omsorgstjenestene i nordiske land». June 2006.
- 5-2006 Ingrid Helgøy, Sturla Herfindal og Torgeir Sveri: «Undersøkelse av hovedfags- og masterstudenters gjennomføring og vurdering av studiesituasjonen». Juni 2006.
- 6-2006 *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The whole-of-government approach regulation, performance, and public-sector reform». August 2006.
- **7-2006** *Martin Byrkjeland:* «Kortare arbeidstid Eit oversyn over diskusjonen om arbeidstidsforkortingar i Noreg 1880–2006». August 2006.
- **8-2006** *Even Nilssen*: «The EU Fight Against Poverty and Social Exclusion. Activation, Targeting and the Sustainability of the Welfare State». November 2006.
- 9-2006 Merethe Mæland Bertelsen: «Omorganisering av konkurransetilsynet». November 2006.
- **10-2006** *Rune Ervik*: «European Pension Policy Initiatives and National Reforms: Between Financial Sustainability and Adequacy». December 2006.
- **11-2006** *Kaia Christina I. Grahm-Haga*: «Utvikling av forvaltningsrevisjon i Norge». December 2006.
- **12-2006** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Modern Regulatory Agencies Professional and Judicial Objectivity or Increased Complexity in Decision-Making?». December 2006.
- **13-2006** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Modern Management Tools in Norwegian State Agencies: Regulation Inside Government or Shopping Basket?». December 2006.
- **14-2006** *Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid:* «Reform of the Employment and Welfare Administrations the Challenges of Co-ordinating Diverse Public Organisations». December 2006.

2005

- **1-2005** *Ivar A. Lima og Agnete Vabø*: «Instituttstruktur og fakultetsorganisering ved HF-fakultetet, Universitetet i Bergen». May 2005.
- 2-2005 Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Modalen: Fra off-road til on-line på 25 år». May 2005.
- 3-2005 Nanna Kildal: «Fra arbeidsbegrepets historie: Aristoteles til Marx». May 2005.
- **4-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Autonomy and Control in the Norwegian Civil Service: Does Agency Form Matter?» September 2005.
- **5-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Regulating Regulatory Organizations: Controlling Norwegian Civil Service Organizations». September 2005.
- 6-2005 Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Regulatory Reforms and Agencification». November 2005.
- **7-2005** Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: «Specialization and Coordination: Implications for Integration and Autonomy in a Multi-Level System». November 2005.
- **8-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Performance Management in Practice The Norwegian Way». November 2005.
- **9-2005** *Stig Helleren:* «Omstilling i Arbeidstilsynet: Tilsynsmeldingens konsekvenser for strategi og organisering». November 2005.
- **10-2005** *Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson:* «Europeanization of Nordic Central Governments: Towards a Transnational Regulatory State?». November 2005.
- 11-2005 *Kari Ludvigsen and Kari Tove Elvbakken*: «The Public, the Mother and the Child. Public Health Initiatives Promoting the Strong and Happy Child Focusing on Food and Mental Health». December 2005.
- **12-2005** *Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy*: «Overcoming the Barrieres and Seizing the Opportunities for Active Ageing in Norway: Report from an Expert Panel Meeting». December 2005.
- 13-2005 Ingrid Helgøy: «Active Ageing and the Norwegian Health Care System». December 2005.
- 14-2005 Martin Byrkjeland og Knut Grove: «Perspektiv på bygdeutvikling». December 2005.
- **15-2005** *Haldor Byrkjeflot:* «The Rise of a Healthcare State? Recent Healthcare Reforms in Norway». December 2005.
- **16-2005** *Monica Skjøld Johansen:* «Penga eller livet? Lederutfordringer i det reformerte norske sykehusvesenet». December 2005.
- 17-2005 *Kirsti Malterud, Kari Tove Elvbakken og Per Solvang*: «Helsekameratene. Gruppe for flerfaglig forskning om helse og sykdom i kulturelt perspektiv, Universitetet i Bergen 1999–2005». December 2005.

- **1-2004** Dag Olaf Torjesen and Hallgeir Gammelsæter: «Management Between Autonomy and Transparency in the Enterprise Hospital». January 2004.
- **2-2004** *Haldor Byrkjeflot and Simon Neby:* «The Decentralized Path Challenged? Nordic Health Care Reforms in Comparison». January 2004.
- 3-2004 *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The Fragmented State the Challenges of Combining Efficiency, Institutional Norms and Democracy». March 2004.
- 4-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Europeisering av tilsynsmyndigheter i Norge og Sverige». Mars 2004.
- **5-2004** *Karsten Vrangbæk and Katarina Østergren:* «The Introduction of Choice in Scandinavian Hospital Systems. Arguments and Policy Processes in the Danish and the Norwegian Case». March 2004.
- 6-2004 Marit Tjomsland: «Internationalization at Norwegian Universities and Colleges after the Quality Reform». April 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **7-2004** Hans-Tore Hansen, Anne Hege Trædal-Henden, Olaf Jürgens and Wolfgang Voges: «Poverty among Households with Children: A Comparative Study of Lone Parents and Couples with Children in Norway and Germany». April 2004.
- **8-2004** Renate Storetvedt Lien og Arnhild Taksdal «Integrering av kjønnsperspektiv i offentlig tjenesteproduksjon og planlegging». Mai 2004.
- **9-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy og Synnøve Serigstad:* «Tilsyn som styringsform i forholdet mellom staten og kommunene». May 2004.
- 10-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Legemiddeltilsyn og europeisering». September 2004.

- **11-2004** *Bodil Ravneberg:* «Økonomiske insentiv i arbeidslinjen, virker det?» Evaluering av forsøksordning med kvalifiseringsstønad i «Prosjektet Amalie» i Åsane». October 2004.
- **12-2004** *Per Lægreid and Synnøve Serigstad:* «Organizing for Homeland Security: The Case of Norway». November 2004.
- **13-2004** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Institutional Conditions and the Responsibilities of Universities». November 2004.
- 14-2004 Lise Hellebø: «Food Safety at Stake the Establishment of Food Agencies». November 2004.
- **15-2004** *Katarina Østergren:* «The Institutional Construction of Consumerism. A Study of Implementing Quality Indicators». November 2004.
- **16-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy and Anne Homme:* «Governance in Primary and Lower Secondary Education. Comparing Norway, Sweden and England». November 2004.
- 17-2004 *Tom Christensen, Per Lægreid and Inger Marie Stigen:* «Performance Management and Public Sector Reform: The Norwegian Hospial Reform». December 2004.
- **18-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Regulatory Agencies The Challenges of Balancing Agency Autonomy and Political Control». December 2004.
- **19-2004** Dag Arne Christensen: «Velferdsstat, rettighetslovgivning og lokalt selvstyre». Desember 2004.
- **20-2004** *Kristin Rubecksen:* «Civil Service Organizations in Norway: Organizational Features and Tasks». December 2004.
- **21-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «National Versus International Mergers in Unionised Oligopoly». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2004** *Birte Folgerø Johannessen*: «Ledelse og evidens i det psykiske helsevernet, konsekvenser for kunnskapsforståelse og organisering». December 2004.
- 23-2004 Jacob Aars og Svein Kvalvåg: «Politiske uttrykksformer i en bykontekst». December 2004.
- **24-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy:* «Active Ageing in the Labour Market. Country Report Norway». December 2004.
- **25-2004** *Torgeir Sveri*: «Strukturer og reformer. En kvalitativ analyse av reformen «Enhetlig ledelse» sett i lys av sykehusets arbeidsorganisering». December 2004.
- **26-2004** *Stig Helleren:* «Arbeidstilsynets rollekonflikt: Vekslende tilsynsstrategier mellom kontroll og veiledning». December 2004.
- **27-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Odd Rune Straume*: «Globalisation and Union Opposition to Technological Change». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **28-2004** Frode Meland: «A Union Bashing Model of Inflation Targeting». December 2004. The Globalization Program.

- **1-2003** *Tom Christensen og Per Lægreid:* «Politisk styring og privatisering: holdninger i elitene og befolkningen». March 2003.
- **2-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Per Lægreid and Marjoleine H. Wik:* «Changing Government Control in Norway: High Civil Service, Universities and Prisons». March 2003.
- **3-2003** *Badi H. Baltagi, Espen Bratberg and Tor Helge Holmås*: «A Panel Data Study of Physicians' Labor Supply: The Case of Norway». March 2003. HEB.
- **4-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Lars Sørgard*: «Unionised Oligopoly, Trade Liberalisation and Location Choice». March 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 5-2003 *Lise Hellebø*: «Nordic Alcohol Policy and Globalization as a Changing Force». April 2003.
- 6-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynsroller i samferdselssektoren». April 2003.
- **7-2003** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Trust in Government the Significance of Attitudes Towards Democracy, the Public Sector and Public Sector Reforms». April 2003.
- **8-2003** *Rune Ervik:* «Global Normative Standards and National Solutions for Pension Provision: The World Bank, ILO, Norway and South Africa in Comparative Perspective». April 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 9-2003 Nanna Kildal: «The Welfare State: Three Normative Tensions». May 2003.
- **10-2003** Simon Neby: "Politisk styring og institusjonell autonomi tre illustrasjoner". May 2003.

- 11-2003 *Nina Berven:* «Cross National Comparison and National Contexts: Is what we Compare Comparable?». July 2003. The Globalization Program.
- **12-2003** *Hilde Hatleskog Zeiner:* «Kontrollhensyn og kontrollpraksis. En studie av Food and Veterinary Office (FVO)». August 2003.
- 13-2003 Nanna Kildal: «Perspectives on Policy Transfer: The Case of the OECD». August 2003.
- **14-2003** *Erik Allardt:* «Two Lectures: Stein Rokkan and the Twentieth Century Social Science». «Den sociala rapporteringens tidstypiska förankring». September 2003.
- **15-2003** *Ilcheong Yi:* «The National Patterns of Unemployment Policies in Two Asian Countries: Malaysia and South Korea». September 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 16-2003 Dag Arne Christensen: «Active Ageing: Country Report Norway». November 2003.
- 17-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynspolitikk i Norge: Utflytting og autonomi». November 2003.
- **18-2003** *Dag Arne Christensen, Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy:* «The Impact of Institutional Legacies on Active Ageing Policies: Norway and UK as Contrasting Cases». December 2003.
- **19-2003** Ole Frithjof Norheim og Benedicte Carlsen: «Legens doble rolle som advokat og portvakt i Fastlegeordningen. Evaluering av fastlegeordningen». December 2003. HEB.
- **20-2003** *Kurt R. Brekke og Odd Rune Straume*: «Pris- og avanseregulering i legemiddelmarkedet. En prinsipiell diskusjon og en vurdering av den norske modellen». Desember 2003. HEB.
- **21-2003** *Per Lægreid, Vidar W. Rolland, Paul G. Roness and John-Erik Ågotnes:* «The Structural Anatomy of the Norwegian State 1947–2003». December 2003.
- **22-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Haldor Byrkjeflot and Katarina Östergren:* «Taking Power from Knowledge. A Theoretical Framework for the Study of Two Public Sector Reforms». December 2003. ATM.
- 23-2003 Per Lægreid, Ståle Opedal and Inger Marie Stigen: «The Norwegian Hospital Reform Balancing Political Control and Enterprise Autonomy». December 2003. ATM.
- **24-2003** *Håkon Høst*: «Kompetansemåling eller voksenutdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene? Underveisrapport fra en studie av pleie- og omsorgsutdanningene». December 2003.
- **25-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «Downstream merger with upstream market power». The Globalization Program. December 2003.
- 26-2003 Ingrid Drexel: «Two Lectures: The Concept of Competence an Instrument of Social and Political Change». «Centrally Coordinated Decentralization – No Problem? Lessons from the Italian Case». December 2003.

- **1-2002** *Håkon Høst:* «Lærlingeordning eller skolebasert utdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene?». April 2002.
- **2-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand and Per Solvang:* «Rome a Temporary Deaf City! Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.
- **3-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand og Per Solvang:* «Roma en midlertidig døv by! Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.
- **4-2002** *Christian Madsen:* «Spiller det noen rolle? om hverdagen på nye og gamle sykehjem». June 2002.
- **5-2002** *Elin Aasmundrud Mathiesen*: «Fritt sykehusvalg. En teoretisk analyse av konkurranse i det norske sykehusmarkedet». June 2002. HEB.
- 6-2002 Tor Helge Holmås: «Keeping Nurses at Work: A Duration Analysis». June 2002. HEB.
- **7-2002** *Ingvild Halland Ørnsrud:* «Mål- og resultatstyring gjennom statlige budsjettreformer». July 2002.
- 8-2002 Torstein Haaland: «Tid, situasjonisme og institusjonell utakt i systemer». July 2002.
- **9-2002** *Kristin Strømsnes:* «Samspillet mellom frivillig organisering og demokrati: Teoretiske argument og empirisk dokumentasjon». August 2002.
- **10-2002** *Marjoleine Hooijkaas Wik:* «Mangfold eller konformitet? Likheter og forskjeller innenfor og mellom fem statlige tilknytningsformer». August 2002.
- 11-2002 Knut Helland: «Den opprinnelige symbiosen mellom fotball og presse». September 2002.
- **12-2002** *Nina Berven:* «National Politics and Global Ideas? Welfare, Work and Legitimacy in Norway and the United States». September 2002. The Globalization Program.

- **13-2002** *Johannes Hjellbrekke:* «Globalisering som utfordring til samfunnsvitskapane». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **14-2002** *Atle Møen:* «Den globale produksjonen av symbol og kunnskap. Verdsflukt og verdsherredømme». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **15-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Complex Patterns of Interaction and Influence Among Political and Administrative Leaders». October 2002.
- **16-2002** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Hierarchy and Specialization. On Institutional Integration of Higher Education Systems». Oktober 2002.
- 17-002 Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson: «Europeanization of Public Administration: Effects of the EU on the Central Administration in the Nordic States». November 2002.
- **18-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Trust in Government the Relative Importance of Service Satisfaction, Political Factors and Demography». November 2002.
- **19-2002** *Marit Tjomsland:* «Arbeidsinnvandringssituasjonen i Norge etter 1975». November 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **20-2002** Augustín José Menéndez m.fl.: «Taxing Europe. The Case for European Taxes in Federal Perspective». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **21-2002** *Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad*: «Globalization and Risky Human Capital Investment». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2002** Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad: «Human Capital Investment and Globalization in Extortionary States». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **23-2002** *Anne Lise Fimreite, Yngve Flo og Jacob Aars*: «Generalistkommune og oppgavedifferensiering. Tre innlegg». December 2002.
- **24-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Frå privat initiativ til kommunalt monopol. Lysverk, sporvegar og renovasjon i Bergen og Oslo 1850–1935». December 2002.
- **25-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Mellom «non-intervention» og «samfundsvillie». Statleg og kommunal regulering av økonomisk verksemd i Norge på 1800-talet». December 2002.
- **26-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen*: «Hovedtyper av valgordninger. Proporsjonalitet eller politisk styring?». December 2002.
- **27-2002** *Jan Erik Askildsen, Badi H. Baltagi and Tor Helge Holmås:* «Will Increased Wages Reduce Shortage of Nurses? A Panel Data Analysis f Nurses' Labour Supply». December 2002. HEB.
- **28-2002** *Sturla Gjesdal, Peder R. Ringdal, Kjell Haug and John Gunnar Mæland:* «Medical Predictors of Disability Pension in Long-Term Sickness Absence. December 2002. HEB.
- **29-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars*: «Teknologi og demokrati. Med norske kommuner på nett!». December 2002.
- **30-2002** *Jacob Aars:* «Byfolk og politikk. Gjennomgang av data fra en befolkningsundersøkelse i Bergen, Oslo og Tromsø». December 2002.
- **31-2002** *Hjørdis Grove*: «Kommunaliseringsprosessen i Århus 1850–1940». December 2002.